# INDEPENDENT REVIEW PROCESS (IRP) INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR DISPUTE RESOLUTION

ICDR Case No. 01-15-0002-8061

Despegar Online SRL	
Donuts, Inc.	
Famous Four Media Limited	
Fegistry, LLC	
Radix FZC	
-vs-	
ICANN	
-vs-	
Little Birch, LLC	
Minds + Machines Group Limited	
Final Declaration	

#### **IRP Panel**

Thomas H. Webster
Dirk P. Tirez
Peter J. Rees QC (Chair)

## **Table of Contents**

	Page
A. Introduction and Procedural History	3
B. Factual Background - General	4
C. Factual Background – Specific	6
D. Relief Requested	8
E. Claimants' Submissions	9
F. ICANN's Submissions	12
G. The Issues	14
H. Analysis – General	15
I. Analysis – Specific	19
1. The denial by the BGC, on 22 August 2014, of the Reconsideration  Request to have the CPE Panel decision in .hotel reconsidered	19
2. The denial by the BGC, on 11 October 2014, of the Reconsideration Request to seek reconsideration of ICANN staff's response to the DIDP request in relation to the .hotel CPE decision	25
3. The denial by the BGC, on 18 November 2014, of the Reconsideration  Request to have the CPE Panel decision in .eco reconsidered	31
4. The continued upholding of HTLD's application for .hotel in the light of the matters raised in Crowell & Moring's letter of 5 June 2015	33
5. The attempt by Minds + Machines Group Limited to join in the .hotel IRP	36
J. Conclusion	36
K. The Prevailing Party and Costs	39

### A. Introduction and Procedural History

- 1. This Final Declaration is issued by this Independent Review Process ("IRP") Panel pursuant to the Bylaws of the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers ("ICANN"). This IRP has been administered under the International Centre for Dispute Resolution ("ICDR") International Dispute Resolution Procedures as amended and in effect as of 1 June 2014 along with ICANN's Supplementary Procedures.
- 2. On 4 March 2015, following a failed Cooperative Engagement Process with ICANN, Despegar Online SRL, Donuts Inc., Famous Four Media Limited, Fegistry LLC and Radix FZC submitted a Request for IRP in relation to ICANN's treatment of the generic top-level domain ("gTLD") string .hotel ("the .hotel IRP").
- 3. On 17 April 2015, ICANN submitted its Response to this Request.
- 4. On 15 March 2015, following a failed Cooperative Engagement Process with ICANN, Little Birch, LLC and Minds + Machines Group Limited submitted a Request for IRP in relation to ICANN's treatment of the gTLD string .eco ("the .eco IRP").
- 5. On 27 April 2015, ICANN submitted its Response to this Request.
- 6. On 12 May 2015, the ICDR confirmed to the parties that the cases regarding .hotel IRP and .eco IRP would be merged and the parties agreed to keep written submissions separate but recognized that the issues presented by the two cases were closely linked and that the parties' interests in the proceedings were so similar that both should be dealt with during a single hearing.
- 7. Despegar Online SRL, Donuts Inc., Famous Four Media Limited, Fegistry LLC, Radix FZC, Little Birch, LLC and Minds + Machines Group Limited are all represented by Flip Petillion and Jan Janssen of Crowell & Moring LLP and ICANN is represented by Jeffrey A. LeVee and Rachel Zernik of Jones Day.
- **8.** The IRP Panel consisting of Thomas H. Webster, Dirk P. Tirez and Peter J. Rees QC (Chair) ("Panel"), having been duly constituted to consider these two Requests, conducted a preparatory conference with the party representatives on 25 August 2015 at which, and following consultation with the party representatives, the procedure was fixed by the Panel for the further conduct of the IRP.

- 9. On 7 October 2015, the Panel received a letter from Fasken Martineau seeking to make submissions to the Panel on behalf of Big Room Inc. ("Big Room") whilst acknowledging that Big Room was not a party to the IRP.
- 10. On 19 October 2015, Despegar Online SRL, Donuts Inc., Famous Four Media Limited, Fegistry LLC, Radix FZC, and Minds + Machines Group Limited submitted a Reply to ICANN's Response in the .hotel IRP matter, and Little Birch, LLC and Minds + Machines Group Limited submitted a Reply to ICANN's Response in the .eco IRP matter.
- 11. On 10 November 2015, ICANN submitted its Sur-Replies in both the .hotel IRP and the .eco IRP matters.
- 12. On 20 November 2015, the Panel received an e-mail from HOTREC seeking to make submissions to the Panel whilst acknowledging that HOTREC was not a party to the IRP.
- 13. On 2 December 2015, in advance of the telephone hearing due to take place on 7 December 2015, the Panel sent an e-mail to the representatives of the parties asking a number of questions.
- 14. On 4 December 2015, the parties responded in writing to the Panel's questions.
- **15.** On 7 December 2015, a telephone hearing took place at which the representatives of all the parties made their submissions to the Panel.

## B. Factual Background - General

- 16. In 2005, ICANN's Generic Names Supporting Organization ("GNSO") began a policy development process to consider the introduction of new gTLDs. As part of this process the New gTLD Applicant Guidebook ("Guidebook") was developed and was approved by the Board of ICANN in June 2011 and the New gTLD Program was launched.
- 17. The final version of the Guidebook was published on 4 June 2012. It provides detailed instructions to gTLD applicants and sets out the procedures for evaluating new gTLD applications. The Guidebook provides that new gTLD applicants may designate their applications as either standard or community based, the latter to be "operated for the benefit of a clearly delineated community" (Guidebook § 1.2.3.1).
- **18.** If more than one standard application was made for the same gTLD applicants were asked to try and achieve an amicable agreement under which one or more

- of them withdrew their applications. If no amicable solution could be found, applicants in contention for the same gTLD would be invited to participate in an auction for the gTLD.
- 19. If a community based application was made for a gTLD for which other applicants had made standard applications, the community based applicant was invited to elect to proceed to Community Priority Evaluation ("CPE") whereby its application would be evaluated by a CPE Panel in order to establish whether the application met the CPE criteria. The CPE Panel could award up to a maximum of 16 points to the application on the basis of the CPE criteria. If an application received 14 or more points the applicant would be considered to have prevailed in CPE (Guidebook § 4.2.2). The four CPE criteria are: (i) community establishment; (ii) nexus between proposed string and community; (iii) registration policies; and (iv) community endorsement. Each criterion is worth a maximum of 4 points (Guidebook § 4.2.3).
- **20.** If an applicant prevails in CPE, it will proceed to the next stage of evaluation and other standard applications for the same gTLD will not proceed because the community based application will be considered to have achieved priority (Guidebook § 4.2.2).
- **21.** ICANN appointed an external provider, the Economic Intelligence Unit ("EIU") to constitute the CPE Panel.
- **22.** ICANN has a Documentary Information Disclosure Policy ("DIDP"), which permits requests to be made to ICANN to make public documents "concerning ICANN's operational activities, and within ICANN's possession, custody or control".
- **23.** ICANN also has in place a process by which any person or entity, materially affected by an action of ICANN, may request review or reconsideration of that action by the Board of ICANN ("Reconsideration Request") (Art IV.2 of ICANN's Bylaws).
- **24.** ICANN also has in place a process for independent third-party review of Board actions alleged by an affected party to be inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of ICANN (Art IV.3 of ICANN's Bylaws), namely the IRP Process.
- **25.** Article IV.3.4 of ICANN's Bylaws provides:

"Requests for such independent review shall be referred to an Independent Review Process Panel ("IRP Panel"), which shall be charged with comparing contested actions of the Board to the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, and with declaring whether the Board has acted consistently with the provisions of those Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws. The IRP Panel must apply a defined standard of review to the IRP request, focusing on:

a. did the Board act without conflict of interest in taking its decision?b. did the Board exercise due diligence and care in having a reasonable amount of facts in front of them?; and

c. did the Board members exercise independent judgment in taking the decision, believed to be in the best interests of the company?"

## C. Factual Background - Specific

- **26.** Despegar Online SRL, Donuts Inc., Famous Four Media Limited, Fegistry LLC and Radix FZC each submitted standard applications for .hotel. HOTEL Top-Level-Domain s.a.r.l. ("HTLD") submitted a community based application for .hotel.
- **27.** Little Birch, LLC and Minds + Machines Group Limited each submitted standard applications for .eco. Big Room submitted a community based application for .eco.
- **28.** On 19 February 2014, HTLD was invited to elect to proceed to CPE, which it did, and its application was forwarded to the EIU for evaluation.
- **29.** On 12 March 2014, Big Room was invited to elect to proceed to CPE, which it did, and its application was forwarded to the EIU for evaluation.
- **30.** On 11 June 2014, the CPE Panel from EIU issued its report, which determined that HTLD's application should receive 15 points on the CPE criteria, thereby prevailing in CPE with the consequence that the standard applications for .hotel would not proceed.
- 31. On 28 June 2014, Despegar Online SRL, DotHotel Inc., dot Hotel Limited, Fegistry LLC, Spring McCook LLC and Top Level Domain Holdings Limited submitted a Reconsideration Request "to have that decision by the Community Priority Evaluation panel reconsidered", and, on 4 August 2014, Donuts Inc., Fair Winds Partners, LLC, Famous Four Media Limited, Minds + Machines Group Limited and Radix FZC submitted a request to ICANN pursuant to its DIDP for certain documents related to the decision of the CPE Panel.
- **32.** On 22 August 2014, the Board Governance Committee ("BGC") of ICANN denied the Reconsideration Request to have the CPE Panel decision reconsidered and, on 3 September 2014, ICANN responded to the DIDP request

- by referring to certain correspondence that was publicly available, but not providing any other documentation sought in the DIDP request.
- 33. On 22 September 2014, Despegar Online SRL, Radix FZC, Famous Four Media Limited, Fegistry LLC, Donuts Inc., and Minds + Machines Group Limited submitted a Reconsideration Request to "seek reconsideration of ICANN staff's response to the Requesters' request for documents pursuant to ICANN's Document Information Disclosure Policy ("DIDP")", and, on 11 October 2014, the BGC of ICANN denied that Reconsideration Request.
- 34. On 6 October 2014, the CPE Panel from EIU issued its report, which determined that Big Room's application should receive 14 points on the CPE criteria, thereby prevailing in CPE with the consequence that the standard applications for .eco would not proceed.
- 35. On 22 October 2014, Little Birch, LLC and Minds + Machines Group Limited submitted a Reconsideration Request seeking "the reconsideration of ICANN's Community Priority Evaluation Panel's determination whereby [Big Room's application] prevailed in Community Priority Evaluation", They also submitted a request to ICANN pursuant to its DIDP for certain documents related to the decision of the CPE Panel.
- **36.** On 31 October 2014, ICANN responded to the DIDP request by referring to certain correspondence that was publicly available, but not providing any other documentation sought in the DIDP request, and, on 18 November 2014, the BGC of ICANN denied the Reconsideration Request to have the CPE Panel decision reconsidered.
- 37. On 27 February 2015, ICANN staff became aware of a configuration issue with ICANN's online New gTLD Applicant and Global Domains Division ("GDD") portals. It appears that, between 17 March 2014 and 27 February 2015, user credentials were used to obtain sensitive and confidential business information concerning several of the .hotel applicants.
- 38. On 5 June 2015, Crowell & Moring LLP wrote to the ICANN Board and the President of ICANN's GDD "on behalf of Travel Reservations SRL (formerly, Despegar Online SRL), Donuts Inc. (and its subsidiary applicant Spring McCook, LLC), Famous Four Media Limited (and its subsidiary applicant dot Hotel limited), Fegistry LLC, Minds + Machines Group Limited (formerly Top Level Domain Holdings Limited), and Radix FZC (and its subsidiary applicant DotHotel Inc.)". The letter requested "full information concerning this data exposure issue and the actions that have been taken by ICANN to limit damages for the affected parties" and set out a list of information sought.

- **39.** On 5 July 2015, ICANN responded to the letter of 5 June 2015 under the heading "Response to Documentary Information Disclosure Policy Request". ICANN provided further information concerning the issue and referred to certain information that was publicly available, but did not provide any other documentation.
- **40.** Neither the Board of ICANN nor the President of ICANN's GDD has responded to the letter of 5 June 2015.

## D. Relief Requested

- **41.** The relief requested by the Claimants in both the .hotel and .eco Requests for IRP was, essentially, the same, namely:
  - Declare that ICANN breached its Articles of Incorporation, its Bylaws, and or the gTLD Guidebook;
  - Declare that ICANN must reject the determination that HTLD's application for .hotel and Big Room's application for .eco be granted community priority;
  - Award Claimants their costs in this proceeding; and
  - Award such other relief as the Panel may find appropriate in order to ensure that the ICANN Board follow its Bylaws, Articles of Incorporation, or other policies, or other relief that Claimants may request after further briefing or argument.
- **42.** In the Reply to ICANN's Response in the .hotel IRP a further request for relief was added, namely:
  - Declare that ICANN must reject HTLD's application for .hotel.
- **43.** In response to the questions raised by the Panel on 2 December 2015, the Claimants' representative also asked for the following relief:
  - That the Panel consider declaring that ICANN continues to act inconsistently with its Articles of Incorporation, its Bylaws, and or the Guidebook by:
    - upholding the determination that HTLD's application for .hotel be granted community priority;
    - upholding HTLD's application for .hotel; and
    - upholding the determination that Big Room's application for .eco be granted community priority.
  - ii. That the Panel declare that ICANN has breached and continues to breach its Articles of Incorporation and/or Bylaws by upholding the

- provisions of the gTLD Applicant Guidebook or of the new gTLD policy which are in violation of the Articles of Incorporation and/or Bylaws.
- iii. That the Panel examine the consistency with ICANN's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of;
  - the contents of the Guidebook
  - the CPE process itself
  - the selection and appointment process of the EIU as the CPE Panel, and
  - the implementation of the CPE process that has led to ICANN accepting community priority for .hotel and .eco.

### E. Claimants' Submissions

- 44. In their submissions, the Claimants, in both the .hotel and .eco IRPs matters, criticise the CPE process as a whole and complain that the ICANN Board failed to establish, implement and supervise a fair and transparent CPE process in the selection of the CPE Panel. They also complain that the CPE process is unfair, non-transparent and discriminatory due to the use of anonymous evaluators, and that no quality review process exists for CPE Panel decisions.
- **45.** In relation to the CPE process as a whole, the Claimants also argue that, as no opportunity is given for applicants to be heard on the substance of a CPE determination (by either the CPE Panel itself, or by ICANN upon receiving the Panel's decision), CPE determinations are made without due process.
- **46.** However, relief in respect of these wider issues was not requested by the Claimants in either the .hotel or .eco Requests, and, although such relief was referred to by the Claimants in their response to the Panel's questions of 2 December 2015, it was confirmed by the Claimants at the hearing on 7 December 2015 that the Claimants were not, in fact, asking the Panel to make a declaration as to the selection process of the CPE Panel by ICANN, nor any declaration as to the CPE process as a whole, nor whether that process breaches ICANN's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, nor whether the Guidebook breaches ICANN's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws.
- 47. Accordingly, for the purposes of this IRP, it is the submissions made by the Claimants which address the specific relief sought by the Claimants in relation to the granting of CPE in the .hotel and .eco applications that are relevant for the Panel.
- **48.** In the .hotel and .eco Requests and Replies, the Claimants make the following submissions in relation to the CPE Panel's determinations on CPE:

- i. "By accepting a third-party determination that is contrary to its policies, ICANN has failed to act with due diligence and failed to exercise independent judgment" (.hotel Request § 9, .eco Request § 9)
- ii. "The extraordinary outcomes for Big Room's application for .eco and HTLD's application for .hotel were only possible due to a completely different and clearly erroneous application of the evaluation criteria in the .eco and .hotel CPE" (.eco Request § 48)
- iii. "If the CPE Panel used the same standard as, e.g., in the .gay, .immo and .taxi CPEs, it would never have decided that the requirements for nexus were met" (.hotel Request § 52, .eco Request § 50)
- iv. "The abovementioned examples of disparate treatment in the CPE process also show that the CPE process was performed in violation of ICANN's CPE policy" (.hotel Request § 53, .eco Request § 51)
- v. "the CPE Panel in the .hotel CPE committed several additional policy violations. It did not analyze whether there was a 'community' within the definition of that term under the rules of the Applicant Guidebook" (.hotel Request § 53)
- vi. "the CPE Panel in the .eco CPE committed several additional policy violations. It did not analyze whether there was a 'community' within the definition of that term under the rules of the Applicant Guidebook" (.eco Request § 51)
- vii. "The requirement of a pre-existing community and the suspicious date of incorporation of Big Room have never been examined by the CPE Panel" (.eco Request § 53)
- viii. "The CPE Panel also did not provide meaningful reasoning for its decision. It even went as far as inventing facts" (.hotel Request § 55)
  - ix. "The CPE Panel also did not provide meaningful reasoning for its decision. It even went as far as neglecting obvious facts" (.eco Request § 56)
  - x. "However, the CPE Panel's reliance on the support of a distinct, yet undefined, community shows that the support for the .hotel gTLD came from a 'community' other than the one that was defined by the applicant. The need to introduce a distinct and undefined community goes against the exact purpose of the CPE policy, requiring support of the community targeted by the string. It is at odds with the CPE Panel's findings on organization and nexus between the proposed string and the 'community'." (.hotel Request § 56)
- xi. "the CPE Panel disregarded the obvious point that the .eco string does not identify a community and that it has numerous other meanings beyond the definitions in the OED.....Big Room would not have qualified for community priority if the CPE Panel had not granted the maximum score for uniqueness of the string." (.eco Request § 58)
- xii. "The CPE Panel has never considered the appropriateness of [Big Room's] appeal process. In contrast, however, the CPE Panel did investigate the

- appropriateness of proposed appeal processes in other CPEs requiring that the appeals processes be clearly described, failing which the application would score zero on the enforcement requirement." (.eco Request § 59)
- xiii. "The Applicant Guidebook explicitly calls on the Board to individually consider an application under an ICANN accountability mechanism...such as a Request for Reconsideration" (.hotel Request § 64, .eco Request § 67)

  NB the Panel notes that this is not actually what the Guidebook says. It says that the "Board reserves the right to individually consider an application for a new gTLD....under exceptional circumstances"
- xiv. "Claimants showed that the CPE Panel manifestly misapplied ICANN's defined standards in the CPE. It is unclear how else to interpret such a fundamental misapplication other than as an obvious policy violation" (.eco Request § 69)
- xv. "Claimants were merely asking that ICANN comply with its own policies and fundamental obligations in relation to the performance of the CPE process" (.hotel Request § 66, .eco Request § 69)
- xvi. "The IRP Panel's task is to look at whether ICANN's unquestioning acceptance of the CPE Panel's advice and ICANN's refusal to review the issue raised by Claimants are compatible with ICANN's fundamental obligations" (.hotel Reply § 4, .eco Reply § 3)
- xvii. "ICANN's reasoning would logically result in any review of the CPE being denied, no matter how arbitrary the original evaluation may be" (.hotel Reply § 4, .eco Reply § 8)
- xviii. "the ICANN Board decided not to check whether or not the evaluation process had been implemented in compliance with principles of fairness, transparency, avoiding conflicts of interest and non-discrimination." (.hotel Reply § 34, .eco Reply § 33)
- xix. "One cannot investigate whether a standard was applied fairly and correctly without looking into how the standard was applied.....the ICANN Board deliberately refused to examine whether the standard was applied correctly, fairly, equitably and in a non-discriminatory manner" (.hotel Reply § 39, .eco Reply § 38)
- xx. "As the IRP Panel's task includes a review as to whether ICANN discriminated in the application of its policies and standards, the IRP Panel is obliged to consider how the standards were applied in different cases" (.hotel Reply § 45, .eco Reply § 44)
- **49.** In the .hotel Reply, the Claimants also make the following submissions in relation to the declaration they are seeking that ICANN must reject HTLD's application for .hotel:
  - i. "The IRP Panel is also requested to assess ICANN's refusal to take appropriate action to offer redress to parties affected by the data exposure issue. In coming to its conclusion, the IRP Panel may examine all the

- relevant information that was available to ICANN in relation to the question of taking action" (.hotel Reply § 4)
- ii. "ICANN never showed any willingness to take appropriate measures" (.hotel Reply § 49)
- iii. "In this case a crime was committed seemingly with the specific purpose of obtaining a better position within the new gTLD program, and the crime was made possible due to misuse of user credentials for which HTLD (or an individual associated to HTLD) was responsible....It would indeed not be in the public interest to allocate a critical Internet resource to an entity that is closely linked with individuals who have misused, or who have permitted the misuse of, their user credentials" (.hotel Reply § 50)

#### **50.** Also in the .hotel Reply the Claimants submit:

"Second Claimant in the .eco case, Minds + Machines Group Limited (Minds + Machines), also applied for the .hotel gTLD. Minds + Machines fully supports the claim initiated by Claimants in this case and joins their request. That Minds + Machines join the proceedings is accepted by all Claimants" (.hotel Reply § 2)

#### F. ICANN's Submissions

- **51.** In the .hotel and .eco Responses and Sur-Replies, ICANN makes the following submissions in relation to the CPE Panel's determinations on CPE:
  - i. "Claimants did not state a proper basis for reconsideration as defined in ICANN's Bylaws" (.hotel Response § 4, .eco Response § 4)
  - ii. "ICANN's Board....has no obligation to review (substantively or otherwise) any such report" (.hotel Response § 9, .eco Response § 9)
  - iii. "nothing in the Articles or Bylaws requires the Board [to conduct a substantive review" (.hotel Response § 9, .eco Response § 10)
  - iv. "neither the creation nor the acceptance of the CPE Panel's Report regarding HTLD's Application for .HOTEL constitutes Board action" (.hotel Response § 12)
  - v. "neither the creation nor the acceptance of the CPE Panel's Report regarding Big Room's Application for .ECO constitutes Board action" (.eco Response § 13)
  - vi. "in making those decisions [acceptance of the Guidebook and the decisions by the Board to reject Claimants' Reconsideration Request], the Board followed ICANN's Articles and Bylaws" (.hotel Response § 13, .eco Response § 14)
  - vii. "BGC denied Claimants' Reconsideration Request finding that Claimants had 'failed to demonstrate that the CPE Panel acted in contravention of

- established policy or procedure' in rendering the Report" (.eco Response § 29)
- viii. "BGC denied Claimants' Reconsideration Request [in respect of the DIDP Request] finding that the Claimants had 'failed to demonstrate that ICANN staff acted in contravention of established policy or procedure' in responding to the DIDP Request" (.hotel Response § 28)
- ix. "the reconsideration process does not call for the BGC to perform a substantive review of CPE Reports" (.hotel Response § 49).
- x. "Claimants do not identify any ICANN Article or Bylaws provision that the BGC allegedly violated in reviewing their Reconsideration Request" (.hotel Response § 51, .eco Response § 50)
- xi. "It is not the role of the BGC (or, for that matter, this IRP Panel) to second-guess the substantive determinations of independent, third-party evaluators." (.hotel Response § 53, .eco Response § 52)
- xii. "Claimants' only evidence that the CPE Panel in fact erred is the bare allegation that because certain other, completely separate, applications for entirely different strings did not prevail in CPE then .HOTEL TLD's application also should not have prevailed. Claimants' argument is baseless. The outcome of completely unrelated CPEs does not, and should nor, have any bearing on the outcome of the CPE regarding .HOTEL TLD's Application" (.hotel Response § 55)
- xiii. "Claimants' only evidence that the CPE Panel in fact erred is the bare allegation that because certain other, completely separate, applications for entirely different strings did not prevail in CPE, Big Room's application also should not have prevailed. Claimants' argument is baseless. The outcome of completely unrelated CPEs does not, and should nor, have any bearing on the outcome of the CPE regarding Big Room's Application" (.eco Response § 54)
- xiv. "there is not nor is it desirable to have a process for the BGC or the Board (through the NGPC) to supplant its own determination ....over the guidance of an expert panel formed for that particular purpose" (.hotel Sur-Reply § 11, .eco Sur-Reply § 10)
- **52.** In the .hotel Sur-Reply, ICANN also makes the following submissions in relation to the declaration the Claimants are seeking that ICANN must reject HTLD's application for .hotel:
  - i. "Claimants argue that the Portal Configuration is relevant to this IRP, but they have not identified any Board action or inaction with respect to this issue that violates ICANN's Articles or Bylaws such that it is subject to independent review, now or ever" (.hotel Sur-Reply § 23)

- ii. "The ICANN Board took no action (and was not required to take action under either the ICANN Articles or Bylaws) with respect to Claimant's letter and DIDP request" (.hotel Sur-Reply § 24)
- iii. "Claimants have failed to demonstrate that the Board has a duty to act with respect to Claimants' belief as to what the Board should do. Again Claimants have also failed to show that the Board's conduct in this regard has in any way violated ICANN's Articles or Bylaws" (.hotel Sur-Reply § 25)

#### **53.** Also in the .hotel Sur-Reply ICANN submits:

"Minds + Machines Limited ("Minds + Machines") is not a Claimant in this proceeding but, nevertheless signed the Reply and now seeks to join as an additional claimant. Article 7 of the International Center for Dispute Resolution's International Dispute Resolution Procedures explicitly provides that "[n]o additional party may be joined after the appointment of any [neutral], unless **all parties**, including the additional party, otherwise agree" (ICDR International Dispute Resolution Procedures, Art. VII (emphasis added)). ICANN does not consent to the joinder of Minds + Machines because any claims Minds + Machines may have with respect to the CPE Report or ICANN's response to that Report are timebarred (Bylaws, Art. IV, § 3.3 (30 day deadline to file IRP request)" (.hotel Sur-Reply § 35)

#### G. The Issues

**54.** As has already been stated, Article IV.3.4 of ICANN's Bylaws provides:

"Requests for such independent review shall be referred to an Independent Review Process Panel ("IRP Panel"), which shall be charged with comparing contested actions of the Board to the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, and with declaring whether the Board has acted consistently with the provisions of those Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws. The IRP Panel must apply a defined standard of review to the IRP request, focusing on:

- a. did the Board act without conflict of interest in taking its decision?
- b. did the Board exercise due diligence and care in having a reasonable amount of facts in front of them?; and c. did the Board members exercise independent judgment in taking the decision, believed to be in the best interests of the company?"

- 55. Given that the wider issues of the CPE process as a whole, the appointment of EIU and the provisions of Guidebook are not being pursued, the Panel has concluded that the contested actions of the Board of ICANN in this IRP are:
  - i. The denial by the BGC on 22 August 2014, of the Reconsideration Request to have the CPE Panel decision in .hotel reconsidered.
  - ii. The denial by the BGC on 11 October 2014 of the Reconsideration Request to seek reconsideration of ICANN staff's response to the DIDP request in relation to the .hotel CPE decision.
  - iii. The denial by the BGC on 18 November 2014, of the Reconsideration Request to have the CPE Panel decision in .eco reconsidered.
  - iv. The continued upholding of HTLD's application for .hotel in the light of the matters raised in Crowell & Moring's letter of 5 June 2015.
- **56.** In addition, the Panel has the procedural issue to deal with of the attempt by Minds + Machines Group Limited to join the .hotel IRP.

## H. Analysis - General

- 57. Before turning to the specific analysis of each of the issues stated above, there are some general points which the Panel wishes to highlight, which have application to one or more of the issues in question.
- **58.** The analysis, which the Panel is charged with carrying out in this IRP, is one of comparing the actions of the Board with the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, and declaring whether the Board has acted consistently with the provisions of those Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws. The Panel has identified the following relevant provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws against which the actions, or inactions, of the Board should be compared.

#### **Articles of Incorporation**

#### Article 4

The Corporation shall operate for the benefit of the Internet community as a whole, carrying out its activities in conformity with relevant principles of international law and applicable international conventions and local law and, to the extent appropriate and consistent with these Articles and its Bylaws, through open and transparent processes that enable competition and open entry in Internet-related markets. To this effect, the Corporation shall cooperate as appropriate with relevant international organizations.

#### **Bylaws**

#### Article I.2

In performing its mission, the following core values should guide the decisions and actions of ICANN:

- 1. Preserving and enhancing the operational stability, reliability, security, and global interoperability of the Internet.
- 2. Respecting the creativity, innovation, and flow of information made possible by the Internet by limiting ICANN's activities to those matters within ICANN's mission requiring or significantly benefiting from global coordination.
- 3. To the extent feasible and appropriate, delegating coordination functions to or recognizing the policy role of other responsible entities that reflect the interests of affected parties.
- 4. Seeking and supporting broad, informed participation reflecting the functional, geographic, and cultural diversity of the Internet at all levels of policy development and decision-making.
- 5. Where feasible and appropriate, depending on market mechanisms to promote and sustain a competitive environment.
- 6. Introducing and promoting competition in the registration of domain names where practicable and beneficial in the public interest.
- 7. Employing open and transparent policy development mechanisms that (i) promote well-informed decisions based on expert advice, and (ii) ensure that those entities most affected can assist in the policy development process.
- 8. Making decisions by applying documented policies neutrally and objectively, with integrity and fairness.
- 9. Acting with a speed that is responsive to the needs of the Internet while, as part of the decision-making process, obtaining informed input from those entities most affected.
- 10. Remaining accountable to the Internet community through mechanisms that enhance ICANN's effectiveness.
- 11. While remaining rooted in the private sector, recognizing that governments and public authorities are responsible for public policy and duly taking into account governments' or public authorities' recommendations.

These core values are deliberately expressed in very general terms, so that they may provide useful and relevant guidance in the broadest possible range of circumstances. Because they are not narrowly prescriptive, the specific way in which they apply, individually and collectively, to each new situation will necessarily depend on many factors that cannot be fully anticipated or enumerated; and because they are statements of principle rather than practice,

situations will inevitably arise in which perfect fidelity to all eleven core values simultaneously is not possible. Any ICANN body making a recommendation or decision shall exercise its judgment to determine which core values are most relevant and how they apply to the specific circumstances of the case at hand, and to determine, if necessary, an appropriate and defensible balance among competing values.

#### **Article II.3**

ICANN shall not apply its standards, policies, procedures, or practices inequitably or single out any particular party for disparate treatment unless justified by substantial and reasonable cause, such as the promotion of effective competition.

#### Article III.1

ICANN and its constituent bodies shall operate to the maximum extent feasible in an open and transparent manner and consistent with procedures designed to ensure fairness.

#### Article IV.1

In carrying out its mission as set out in these Bylaws, ICANN should be accountable to the community for operating in a manner that is consistent with these Bylaws, and with due regard for the core values set forth in Article I of these Bylaws. The provisions of this Article, creating processes for reconsideration and independent review of ICANN actions and periodic review of ICANN's structure and procedures, are intended to reinforce the various accountability mechanisms otherwise set forth in these Bylaws, including the transparency provisions of Article III and the Board and other selection mechanisms set forth throughout these Bylaws.

#### Article IV.3

The Board has designated the Board Governance Committee to review and consider any such Reconsideration Requests. The Board Governance Committee shall have the authority to:

- a. evaluate requests for review or reconsideration;
- b. summarily dismiss insufficient requests;
- c. evaluate requests for urgent consideration;
- d. conduct whatever factual investigation is deemed appropriate;
- e. request additional written submissions from the affected party, or from other parties;
- f. make a final determination on Reconsideration Requests regarding staff action or inaction, without reference to the Board of Directors; and g. make a recommendation to the Board of Directors on the merits of the request, as necessary.

- **59.** In response to the questions posed by the Panel on 2 December 2015, ICANN confirmed its position as follows:
  - i. The EIU's determinations are presumptively final. The Board's review on reconsideration is not substantive, but rather is limited to whether the EIU followed established policy or procedure.
  - ii. ICANN has an obligation to adhere to all of its obligations under its Articles of Incorporation and its Bylaws.
  - iii. The Bylaws, and the BGC's determinations on prior Reconsideration Requests, have established a specific standard for when it is appropriate to reconsider CPE determinations (i.e., when the CPE Panel violated established policy or procedure).
  - iv. When considering the Reconsideration Requests in the .eco and .hotel matters, the BGC had before it the EIU's determination and the "facts" that the Claimants had submitted with their Reconsideration Requests. The BGC also considered the Guidebook as well as other published CPE procedures. This was all the information required for the BGC to determine that the EIU had followed established policy and procedure in rendering the CPE determinations.
  - v. The Board is not aware (whether through the BGC or otherwise) as to whether EIU makes any comparative analysis of other CPE determinations it has made when considering individual community priority applications.
- **60.** During the hearing on 7 December 2015, ICANN further confirmed its position as follows:
  - i. The Claimants (save for Minds + Machines Group Limited in the .hotel IRP) are not time-barred from seeking IRP of:
    - a. The denial by the BGC on 22 August 2014 of the Reconsideration Request to have the CPE Panel decision in .hotel reconsidered.
    - b. The denial by the BGC on 11 October 2014 of the Reconsideration Request to seek reconsideration of ICANN staff's response to the DIDP request in relation to the .hotel CPE decision.
    - c. The denial by the BGC on 18 November 2014 of the Reconsideration Request to have the CPE Panel decision in the .eco matter reconsidered.
  - ii. There is no ICANN quality review or control process, which compares the determinations of the EIU on the various CPE applications.

- iii. The core values, which apply to ICANN by virtue of its Bylaws, have not been imposed contractually on the EIU, and the EIU are not, in consequence, subject to them.
- iv. The CPE process operated by the EIU involves 5 core EIU staff and 2 independent evaluators. The independent evaluators separately score each CPE application and submit their separate scores to the EIU core staff. The independent evaluators do not confer on the scoring. The independent evaluators are not the same for each CPE application; sometimes both are different and sometimes one is different.
- v. ICANN considers there is nothing in its Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, which requires ICANN to comply with due process.
- vi. ICANN does not believe that it is subject to any general international law principle requiring it to comply with due process.
- vii. Upon receipt of a Reconsideration Request, ICANN expects the BGC to carry out a procedural review of the CPE determination, not a substantive review and that this procedural review should look at whether the EIU had followed the correct procedure and had correctly applied ICANN policies.
- **61.** In the light of the relevant provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws identified above, and the clarifications provided by ICANN as to its position in relation to CPE applications and Reconsideration Requests made in respect of them, the Panel will now consider each of the contested actions of the Board of ICANN in this IRP. In doing so, the Panel has taken into account, where relevant, all the submissions of the parties, including, without limitation, those specifically set out in sections E. and F. above.
- **62.** Given the confirmation by ICANN, that a time bar is not being raised in relation to the substantive issues in this IRP, the Panel does not have to discuss this question save for when it considers Minds + Machines Group Limited's attempt to join in the .hotel IRP.

## I. Analysis – Specific

## 1. The denial by the BGC, on 22 August 2014, of the Reconsideration Request to have the CPE Panel decision in .hotel reconsidered.

63. In conducting this analysis, the Panel have carefully considered the CPE report dated 11 June 2014, which determined that HTLD's community based application had prevailed, the Reconsideration Request dated 28 June 2014 and the BGC denial of the Reconsideration Request dated 22 August 2014. In doing so, the Panel has considered whether the Board (through the BGC) has acted consistently with the provisions of ICANN's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws.

- **64.** The Panel is clear that, in doing so, it is required by ICANN's Bylaws to apply a defined standard of review focusing on:
  - a. whether the BGC acted without conflict of interest in taking its decision?
  - b. whether the BGC exercised due diligence and care in having a reasonable amount of facts in front of them?; and
  - c. whether the BGC exercised independent judgment in taking the decision, believed to be in the best interests of the company?
- **65.** No allegation of conflict of interest has been made by the Claimants and the Panel has no information or documentation upon which it could reach any view as to whether a conflict of interest existed or not. In conclusion, so far as that requirement is concerned, the Panel can make no finding.
- **66.** As to the requirements of due diligence and care, and the exercise of independent judgment, ICANN's position is that the review undertaken by the BGC should be a procedural review of the CPE determination, not a substantive review, and that this procedural review should look at whether the EIU had followed the correct procedure and had correctly applied ICANN policies.
- **67.** That appears to the Panel to be correct, but what is of critical importance is the manner in which the review of whether the EIU has followed the correct procedure and has correctly applied ICANN's policies is conducted.
- **68.** In their Reply in the .hotel IRP at §39 the Claimants submit:

"One cannot investigate whether a standard was applied fairly and correctly without looking into how the standard was applied.....The ICANN Board instead limited its review to the question of whether the CPE Panel had made mention of the applicable standard. Such a limited review is not a meaningful one."

- **69.** The Panel agrees that if the BGC is charged with considering whether the EIU correctly applied ICANN policies (which ICANN accepts it is), then it needs to look into how the standard was applied. It is not sufficient to limit the review to the question of whether mention was made of the relevant policy. The BGC needs to have a reasonable degree of assurance that the EIU has correctly the applied the policy.
- **70.** This is particularly so given that the EIU is not subject to ICANN's core values, the EIU independent evaluators are not the same for each CPE application, there is no ICANN quality review or control process which compares the

determinations of the EIU on the various CPE applications and ICANN is not aware as to whether EIU makes any comparative analysis of other CPE determinations it has made when considering individual community priority applications.

71. In their Reconsideration Request of 28 June 2014, at page 5, the Claimants say:

"In this case, however, there are 3 instances where the Panel has not followed the [Guidebook] policy and processes for conducting CPE. Further, the Panel, and ICANN staff have breached more general ICANN policies and procedures in the conduct of this CPE."

- **72.** The three instances of failure to follow the Guidebook policy alleged by the Claimants are:
  - 1. Failure to identify a "Community";
  - 2. Failure to consider self-awareness and recognition of the community; and
  - 3. Failure to apply the test for Uniqueness.
- **73.** In their Reconsideration Request, the Claimants then go into significant detail as to the ways in which they allege the EIU failed to follow the Guidebook policy. However, in the BGC denial of 22 August 2014, the BGC state:
  - "...while the Request is couched in terms of the Panel's purported violations of various procedural requirements, the Requesters do not identify any misapplication of a policy or procedure, but instead challenge the merits of the Panel's Report, which is not a basis for reconsideration"
- 74. The BGC's comment quoted above is plainly wrong as any detailed reading of the Reconsideration Request shows. It is unfortunate that the BGC should have included such comments in its determination as, in the Panel's view, this has contributed to this IRP and the clear feeling, on the part of the Claimants, that their Reconsideration Request was not treated appropriately by the BGC.
- 75. In their Reconsideration Request, the Claimants argue that the first question to be asked by the EIU in following the policy and procedure in the Guidebook is whether there is a community that meets the definition of a community under the Guidebook. They say:

"The Panel did not attempt this analysis, in breach of the requirements of the policy and process for CPE.... This is not a disagreement about a finding by the Panel on this topic; the Panel did not consider this definition, nor apply the test for "community" required.... Had it considered the matter, it would have appreciated that the applicants definition, rather than showing cohesion, depended instead on coercion."

**76.** In dealing with this allegation the BGC gave consideration to the definition of community in the Guidebook and stated:

"However, the Requesters point to no obligation to conduct any inquiry as to the definition of community other than those expressed in section 4.2.3 of the Guidebook.....As such, the Requesters fault the Panel for adhering to the Guidebook's definition of a "community" when evaluating the Application. Given that the Panel must adhere to the standards laid out in the Guidebook, this ground for reconsideration fails.

The Requesters also contend the Applicant's proposed community, i.e., the "Hotel Community" does not qualify as a community for CPE purposes because "rather than showing cohesion, [it] depend[s] on coercion....But the Panel reached the contrary conclusion... As even the Requesters note, a request for reconsideration cannot challenge the substance of the Panel's conclusions, but only its adherence to the applicable policies and procedures"

77. In their Reconsideration Request, the Claimants argue that the second question to be asked by the EIU in following the policy and procedure in the Guidebook is whether there was a failure to consider self-awareness and recognition of the community. They say:

"...the Panel has imported the test for determining whether there is a "community" – self-awareness that the group is a community- into the test for "delineation". With respect, that is an error of process that further invalidates the findings.

Even if it were not, and self-awareness and recognition are considered with Delineation, the actual response given under that enquiry about "self-awareness and recognition" shows that the Panel does not understand the test that is to be applied....

What is required is a showing by evidence that the members of the alleged community regard themselves as members of a defined community, which is recognised as such by the members, and by people outside the community.

It is important to note that the Panel finds that the alleged community is clearly delineated, because there is an ISO definition of "hotel", and because every hotel is a member of the alleged community....

The Panel then proceeds through the proper requirements of delineation, which it names accurately – organisation and existence before 2007."

**78.** In dealing with this allegation, the BGC gave consideration to the definition of delineation in the Guidebook and stated:

"The Panel began its assessment of the test for delineation by noting: "Two conditions must be met to fulfil the requirements for delineation; there must be a clear, straightforward membership definition, and there must be awareness and recognition of a community (as defined by the applicant) among its members" (Report, Pg. 1.) As the Requesters admit, the Panel then "proceeds through the proper requirements of Delineation, which it names accurately.... The Requesters thus defeat their own argument, as they squarely concede the Panel assessed the "proper requirements" of the test for delineation.

Again the Requesters dispute the Panel's allusion to the "awareness and recognition" of the Hotel Community's members not because that reference constitutes any procedural violation, but because the Requesters simply disagree whether there is any such recognition amongst the Hotel Community's members.......Disagreement with the Panel's substantive conclusions, however, is not a proper basis for reconsideration"

**79.** In their Reconsideration Request, the Claimants argue that the third question to be asked by the EIU in following the policy and procedure in the Guidebook is whether there was a failure properly to apply the test for Uniqueness. They say:

"The Panel has not followed ICANN policy or process in arriving at the conclusion that the string has "no other significant meaning beyond identifying the community" because it has itself cited a significant other meaning and relied on that other meaning (that the word means "an establishment with services and additional facilities where accommodation and in most cases meals are available") in order to measure and find Delineation.

This is not a disagreement about a conclusion – this is a demonstration of a failure of process by the Panel. It cannot use the significant meaning of "hotel" under an ISO definition for one purpose (a finding under delineation), then deny that meaning and say there is "no other significant meaning" for the purpose of finding Uniqueness....

The word "hotel" means to most of the world what the ISO definition says it means – a place for lodging and meals. To assert that it means to most

people the association of business enterprises that run the hotels is unsubstantiated and absurd."

**8o.** In dealing with this allegation the BGC gave consideration to the definition of uniqueness in the Guidebook and stated:

"The Requesters have identified no procedural deficiency in the Panel's determination that the uniqueness requirement was met. The Requesters concede that "HOTEL" has the significant meaning of a place for lodging and meals, and common sense dictates that the Hotel Community consists of those engaged in providing those services. The attempt to distinguish between those who run hotels and hotels themselves is merely a semantic distinction. Again, while the Requesters may disagree with the Panel's substantive conclusion, that is not a proper basis for reconsideration.

**81.** As for the alleged breaches of more general ICANN policies and procedures in the conduct of the .hotel CPE, the Claimants refer to Article 7 of ICANN's Affirmation of Commitments and Articles I.2.8, III.1 and IV.2.20 of ICANN's Bylaws and say:

"Requestor submits that various aspects of the CPE process breach, or risk breaching, these fundamental provisions...there are a number of features which are prejudicial to standard applicants, including:

- (a) Insufficient material was made available to them as to who the Panelist was, and their qualifications....
- (b) There is no publication of materials to be examined by the Panel....
- (c) Insufficient analysis and reasons were given on how the Panelist reached their CPE report...."
- **82.** In dealing with this allegation the BGC stated:

"None of these concerns represent a policy or procedure violation for the purposes of reconsideration under ICANN's Bylaws. The Guidebook does not provide for any of the benefits that the Requesters claim they did not receive during CPE of the Application. In essence, the Requesters argue that because the Guidebook's CPE provisions do not include Requester's "wish list" of procedural requirements, the Panel's adherence to the Guidebook violates the broadly-phrased fairness principles embodied in ICANN's foundational documents. Were this a proper ground for reconsideration, every standard applicant would have the ability to rewrite the Guidebook via a reconsideration request."

- 83. In considering the original CPE report of 11 June 2014, the Reconsideration Request dated 28 June 2014 and the BGC denial of the Reconsideration request dated 22 August 2014, the Panel have looked closely at whether the BGC simply undertook an administrative "box ticking" exercise to see whether mention was made of the relevant policy or procedure in denying the Reconsideration Request, or whether, as the Panel considers the BGC is required to do, it looked into how the relevant policy or procedure was actually applied by the EIU, and whether, in doing so, the BGC could have a reasonable degree of assurance that the EIU had correctly the applied the policy or procedure.
- **84.** Taking, first of all, the three instances of failure to follow the Guidebook policy alleged by the Claimants, it is clear from the BGC determination document of 22 August 2014 as a whole and, particularly, from those extracts quoted above that each one was carefully considered by the BGC in its determination, and that the BGC did properly consider how the relevant policy or procedure was actually applied by the EIU, and whether, in doing so, the BGC could have a reasonable degree of assurance that the EIU had correctly the applied the policy or procedure.
- **85.** In doing so, the Panel is satisfied that the BGC acted consistently with the provisions of ICANN's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws and that the Claimants complaints in this regard are not made out.
- 86. As for the alleged breaches of more general ICANN policies and procedures in the conduct of the .hotel CPE claimed by the Claimants in the Reconsideration Request, it is clear from the face of these allegations that these are complaints about the CPE process as a whole and are not specific to the .hotel CPE. In consequence of the Claimants' confirmation at the hearing on 2 December 2015, that relief in respect of the CPE process as a whole is not being pursued, it is not strictly necessary for the Panel to consider this further. However, the Panel wishes to put on record that it considers that the BGC, in denying the Claimants' Reconsideration Request, acted consistently with the provisions of ICANN's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws and that the Claimants' complaints in this regard are also not made out.
- 2. The denial by the BGC, on 11 October 2014, of the Reconsideration Request to seek reconsideration of ICANN staff's response to the DIDP request in relation to the .hotel CPE decision.
  - 87. In conducting this analysis, the Panel has carefully considered the DIDP Request dated 4 August 2014, the Response from ICANN of 3 September 2014, the Reconsideration Request dated 19 September 2014 and the BGC denial of the Reconsideration Request dated 11 October 2014. In doing so, the Panel has

- considered whether the Board (through the BGC) has acted consistently with the provisions of ICANN's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws.
- **88.** The Panel knows that, in doing so, it is required by ICANN's Bylaws to apply a defined standard of review focusing on:
  - a. whether the BGC acted without conflict of interest in taking its decision?
  - b. whether the BGC exercised due diligence and care in having a reasonable amount of facts in front of them?; and
  - c. whether the BGC exercised independent judgment in taking the decision, believed to be in the best interests of the company?
- **89.** As with the previous issue, no allegation of conflict of interest has been made by the Claimants and the Panel has no information or documentation upon which it could reach any view as to whether a conflict of interest existed or not. In conclusion, so far as that requirement is concerned, the Panel can make no finding.
- **90.** In line with the approach taken in the previous issue, the Panel consider that the review undertaken by the BGC should look at whether the ICANN staff, in responding to the DIDP Request, followed the correct procedure and correctly applied ICANN policies, and that, in doing so, the BGC needs to look into how the procedure was followed and how policy was applied so that the BGC has a reasonable degree of assurance that the ICANN staff correctly followed the requisite procedure and correctly applied ICANN policies.
- **91.** In their DIDP Request of 4 August 2014, the Claimants asked for four categories of documents, namely:
  - 1) "All correspondence, reports, documents, agreements, contracts, emails, or any other forms of communication ("Communications") between individual member of ICANN's Board or any member of ICANN Staff and the [EIU] or any other organisation or third party involved in the selection or organisation of the CPE Panel for the Report, relating to the appointment of the Panel that produced the Report, and dated within the 12 month period preceding the date of the Report;
  - 2) The curriculum vitaes ("CVs") of the members appointed to the CPE Panel;
  - 3) All Communications (as defined above) between individual members of the CPE Panel and/or ICANN, directly relating to the creation of the Report; and
  - 4) All Communications (as defined above) between the CPE Panel and/or Hotel TLD or any other party prior with a material bearing on the creation of the Report."

- 92. In ICANN's Response of 3 September 2014 it was explained that ICANN, whether at Board or staff level, is not involved with the selection to the CPE Panel of the two individual evaluators that perform the scoring in the CPE process and that ICANN is not provided with information about who the evaluators on any individual CPE Panel may be. As this is all done within the EIU, ICANN, it was stated, did neither have the documentation sought in numbered request 1) above, nor did it have the CVs sought in numbered request 2) above. These are clear statements that no such documentation exists.
- 93. However, the Response goes on to say that to "the extent that ICANN has documentation with the EIU for the performance of its role as the coordinating firm as it relates to the .HOTEL CPE, those documents are subject to certain of the Defined Conditions of Non-Disclosure set forth in the DIDP." It then goes on to state the defined Conditions for Nondisclosure upon which ICANN is relying to justify nondisclosure. Five separate Conditions for Nondisclosure are listed.
- 94. The Response does not give any more detail as to what documents it actually has "for the performance of its role as the coordinating firm", nor which specific Conditions for Nondisclosure apply to which specific documents or category of documents it actually has, and, in consequence, it is not possible to judge whether the policy for nondisclosure has been correctly applied.
- 95. In dealing with the documentation sought in numbered request 3) above, the Response states "Because of the EIU's role as the panel firm, ICANN does not have any communications (nor does it maintain any communications) with the evaluators that identify the scoring for any individual CPE. As a result, ICANN does not have documents of this type." That is a clear and comprehensive statement that such documentation does not exist.
- **96.** However, the Response goes on to say that to "the extent that ICANN has communications with persons from EIU who are not involved in the scoring of a CPE, but otherwise assist in a particular CPE, (as anticipated in the CPE Panel Process Document), those documents are subject to the following Defined Conditions of Nondisclosure set forth in the DIDP". It then goes on to state the defined Conditions for Nondisclosure upon which ICANN is relying to justify nondisclosure. Four separate Conditions for Nondisclosure are listed.
- **97.** The Response does not give any more detail as to what "communications with persons from EIU who are not involved in the scoring of a CPE", nor which specific Conditions for Nondisclosure apply to which specific documents or category of documents it actually has and, in consequence, it is not possible to judge whether the policy for nondisclosure has been correctly applied.

**98.** In dealing with the documentation sought in numbered request 4) above, the Response states:

"In order to maintain the independence and neutrality of the CPE Panels as coordinated by the EIU, ICANN has limited the ability for requesters or other interested parties to initiate direct contact with the panels – the CPE Panel goes through a validation process regarding letters of support or opposition (as described in the CPE Panel Process document) but that is the extent of direct communications that the CPE Panel is expected to have. For process control purposes, from time to time ICANN is cc'd on the CPE Panel's verification emails. These emails are not appropriate for disclosure pursuant to the following Defined Conditions of Nondisclosure set forth in the DIDP".

It then goes on to state the single defined Condition for Nondisclosure upon which ICANN is relying to justify nondisclosure.

- **99.** In this instance, unlike those for numbered requests 1), 2) and 3) above, ICANN has described a single category of documents and the single Condition for Nondisclosure upon which it relies, thus making it possible to judge whether the policy for nondisclosure has been correctly applied.
- 100. In the Panel's view, it is unfortunate that the ICANN staff did not adopt the same approach to dealing with documents which ICANN was not prepared to disclose when responding to numbered requests 1), 2) and 3) as was adopted with numbered request 4). Simply to say that "to the extent" ICANN has documents which fall within the categories requested in numbered requests 1), 2) and 3) such documents are not disclosable, for a variety of reasons, without making any attempt to link categories of document to particular Conditions for Nondisclosure, gives the impression of a process not properly conducted.
- 101. Such an approach does not provide the confidence that those requesting disclosure of documents are entitled to have, namely that a collection of potentially responsive documents has taken place and a review has actually been conducted by the ICANN staff as to whether any of the documents identified as responsive to the request are subject to any of the Conditions of Nondisclosure, as is required by ICANN's published policy for responding to DIDP requests. If the ICANN staff had made this clear in the response it could well have provided the Claimants with the reassurance that both procedure and policy had been followed and applied.
- 102. In the Reconsideration Request of 19 September 2014, the Claimants say:

"ICANN should not interpose such obstacles to access without providing a factual basis to determine if its claimed privileges have any merit. At minimum, the BGC should review the asserted protections and independently determine if they have any supportable grounds".

**103.** Such a request is understandable in the circumstances. Article 4 of ICANN's Articles of Incorporation require it to carry out its activities "through open and transparent processes". Its Core Values include:

"Making decisions by applying documented policies neutrally and objectively, with integrity and fairness", its Bylaws include the requirement to "operate to the maximum extent feasible in an open and transparent manner and consistent with procedures designed to ensure fairness".

- 104. The Panel is, of course, charged with reviewing the action of ICANN's Board, rather than its staff, but the Panel wishes to make clear that, in carrying out its activities, the Board should seek to ensure that ICANN's staff comply with the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of ICANN, and that a failure of the Board to ensure such compliance is a failure of the Board itself.
- asserted protections and independently determine if they have any supportable grounds", it is the view of the Panel that this should not have been the starting point for the BGC in looking at the actions of the ICANN staff in dealing with the DIDP Request. As has already been said, the BGC does need to have a reasonable degree of assurance that the ICANN staff has correctly followed the requisite procedure and correctly applied ICANN policies. If the BGC considers it has that assurance, the Panel does not consider the BGC is required to conduct any form of independent determination as to the decisions made by the ICANN staff. The BGC would only need to go that far if it came to the conclusion that the ICANN staff had not followed the requisite procedure and/or had not correctly applied ICANN policies.
- 106. It is obvious, from the face of the denial of the Reconsideration Request issued by the BGC on 11 October 2014, that such an independent determination did not take place, and it appears that the BGC were satisfied that the ICANN staff had correctly followed procedure and applied policy. In the denial the BGC quite correctly state:

"It is ICANN's responsibility to determine whether requested documents fall within those Nondisclosure Conditions. Specifically, pursuant to the DIDP process "a review is conducted as to whether the documents identified as responsive to the Request are subject to any of the [Nondisclosure Conditions]...Here, in finding that certain requested

documents were subject to Nondisclosure Conditions, ICANN adhered to the DIDP process.

**107.** Whilst the BGC does not explicitly say that a collection process occurred, it is implicit in the BGC denial that the BGC does believe that process was followed. In dealing specifically with numbered requests 1), 2) and 3), the denial says:

"Here, in finding that certain requested documents were subject to Nondisclosure Conditions, ICANN adhered to the DIDP process. Specifically, as to "documentation with the EIU for the performance of its role" and "communications with persons from EIU who are not involved in the scoring of a CPE," ICANN analysed the Requesters' requests in view of the DIDP Nondisclosure Conditions, including those covering "information exchanged, prepared for, or derived from the deliberative and decision-making processes" and "confidential business information and/or internal policies and procedures."

**108.** The denial quotes from the DIDP response as follows:

"ICANN must independently undertake the analysis of each Condition as it applies to the documentation at issue, and make the final determination as to whether any Nondisclosure Conditions apply"

The denial then goes on to say:

In conformance with the publicly posted DIDP process.... ICANN undertook such analysis, as noted above, and articulated its conclusions in the DIDP Response. While the Requesters may not agree with ICANN's determination that certain Nondisclosure Conditions apply here, the requesters identify no policy or procedure that ICANN staff violated in making its determination, and the Requesters' substantive disagreement with that determination is not a basis for reconsideration."

- 109. The denial also reaches a similar conclusion as to the adherence by the ICANN staff to the DIDP process in determining that the potential harm caused by disclosure outweighed the public interest in disclosure.
- more explicit as to the process they had followed in refusing disclosure, the BGC determination document of 11 October 2014 provides the requisite degree of confirmation that the correct procedure was actually followed, that the BGC did, properly, consider whether the relevant policy or procedure was actually applied by the ICANN staff and whether, in doing so, the BGC could have a reasonable degree of assurance that the ICANN staff had correctly the applied the policy or procedure.

111. In doing so, the Panel is satisfied that the BGC acted consistently with the provisions of ICANN's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws and that the Claimants complaints in this regard are not made out.

## 3. The denial by the BGC, on 18 November 2014, of the Reconsideration Request to have the CPE Panel decision in .eco reconsidered.

- 112. In conducting this analysis, the Panel has carefully considered the CPE report dated 6 October 2014, which determined that Big Room's community based application had prevailed, the Reconsideration Request dated 22 October 2014 and the BGC denial of the Reconsideration request dated 18 November 2014. In doing so, the Panel has considered whether the Board (through the BGC) has acted consistently with the provisions of ICANN's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws.
- 113. The Panel is clear that, in doing so, it is required by ICANN's Bylaws to apply a defined standard of review focusing on:
  - a. whether the BGC acted without conflict of interest in taking its decision?
  - b. whether the BGC exercised due diligence and care in having a reasonable amount of facts in front of them?; and
  - c. whether the BGC exercised independent judgment in taking the decision, believed to be in the best interests of the company?
- 114. As with the previous two issues, no allegation of conflict of interest has been made by the Claimants and the Panel has no information or documentation upon which it could reach any view as to whether a conflict of interest existed or not. In conclusion, so far as that requirement is concerned, the Panel can make no finding.
- 115. As it did in considering the first issue, and for the reasons stated there, the Panel considers that if the BGC is charged with considering whether the EIU correctly applied ICANN policies (which ICANN accepts it is), then it needs to look into how the standard was applied. It is not sufficient to limit the review to the question of whether mention was made of the relevant policy. The BGC needs to have a reasonable degree of assurance that the EIU has correctly the applied the policy.
- 116. In their Reconsideration Request of 22 October 2014, at page 10, the Claimants say:

"Requester therefore requests ICANN in accordance with its Reconsideration Request process to:

- Reconsider the Determination, and in particular not award a passing score in view of the [CPE] criteria set out in the [Guidebook] for the reasons expressed in this Reconsideration Request and any reasons, arguments and information to be supplemented to this Request or forming part of a new Reconsideration Request in the future;
- Reconsider ICANN's decision that the Requester's application for the .eco gTLD "Will not Proceed" to contracting; and
- Restore the "Application Status" of the Requester's application and the Application submitted by the Applicant to "Evaluation Complete", their respective "Contention Resolution Statuses" to "Active", and their "Contention Resolution Result" to "In Contention"."
- 117. Earlier in the Reconsideration Request (at pages 2 and 3), the Claimants argue that the concept "eco" is much broader than the community definition provided by Big Room in its community based application and say:

"the community definition contained in the Application...- in Requester's opinion – does not meet the criteria for community-based gTLDs that have been set out in ICANN's Applicant Guidebook"

**118.** The Reconsideration Request goes on to give the reasons for this assertion, which can be summarised as:

- there is no clear and unambiguous definition of the community that Big Room's community based application is intended to serve;
- the string .eco does not closely describe the community or the community members and over-reaches substantially beyond the community referred to in the application;
- the term .eco has various meanings that are completely unrelated to the community determined in Big Room's application; and
- the CPE Panel failed to detail the letters of opposition received.

### 119. The BGC's denial states:

"The Requesters do not identify any misapplication of any policy or procedure by ICANN or the CPE Panel. Rather the Requesters simply disagree with the CPE Panel's determination and scoring of the Application, and challenge the substantive merits of the CPE Panel's Report. Specifically, the Requesters contend that the CPE Panel improperly applied the first, second and fourth CPE criteria set forth in the [Guidebook].

Substantive disagreement with the CPE Panel's Report, however, is not a basis for reconsideration. Since the Requesters have failed to demonstrate that the CPE Panel acted in contravention of any established policy or procedure in rendering the Report, the BGC concludes that [the Reconsideration Request] be denied"

- 120. The BGC denial then goes on to examine whether the EIU properly applied the Guidebook scoring guidelines and CPE Guidelines in respect of each of the items raised by the Claimants and concludes, in respect of each one, that "the CPE Panel accurately described and applied the Guidebook scoring guidelines and CPE Guidelines".
- 121. In considering the original CPE report of 6 October 2014, the Reconsideration Request dated 22 October 2014 and the BGC denial of the Reconsideration Request dated 18 November 2014, the Panel has looked closely at whether the BGC simply undertook an administrative "box ticking" exercise to see whether mention was made of the relevant policy or procedure in denying the Reconsideration Request, or whether, as the Panel considers the BGC is required to do, it looked into how the relevant policy or procedure was actually applied by the EIU, and whether, in doing so, the BGC could have a reasonable degree of assurance that the EIU had correctly the applied the policy or procedure.
- determination, this Reconsideration Request in respect of the .hotel CPE determination, this Reconsideration Request does not raise questions as to whether the EIU followed ICANN policy and procedure. It is, indeed, correctly categorised by the BGC in its denial as a statement of substantive disagreement with the EIU's determination. Nevertheless, it is clear from the BGC determination document of 18 November 2014 as a whole that the BGC did, properly, consider how the relevant policy or procedure was actually applied by the EIU, and whether, in doing so, the BGC could have a reasonable degree of assurance that the EIU had correctly the applied the policy or procedure.
- **123.** In doing so, the Panel is satisfied that the BGC acted consistently with the provisions of ICANN's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws and that the Claimants complaints in this regard are not made out.

## 4. The continued upholding of HTLD's application for .hotel in the light of the matters raised in Crowell & Moring's letter of 5 June 2015.

124. Crowell & Moring's letter of 5 June 2015 is addressed for the attention of the Members of the ICANN Board and to Mr Akram Atallah, the President of ICANN's GDD. It makes a number of serious allegations arising from a portal

configuration issue, which ICANN has admitted occurred, and which can be summarised as follows:

- The user credentials of someone called D. Krischenowski were used to conduct over 60 searches resulting in over 200 unauthorized access incidents across an unknown number of gTLDs;
- these searches resulted in the obtaining of sensitive and confidential business information concerning several of the .hotel applicants;
- D. Krischenowski is associated with HTLD; and
- the user of those credentials was deliberately looking for sensitive and confidential business information concerning competing applicants.
- 125. The letter then goes on to ask for certain information in relation to the portal configuration issue.
- 126. The letter is clearly addressed to the Members of the Board of ICANN and its President of GDD and asks, largely, for information and not documentation. It appears that the letter was also submitted through ICANN's DIDP and, in consequence, ICANN appears solely to have treated the letter as a DIDP request. Accordingly, on 5 July 2015, the ICANN staff responded in a document entitled "Response to Documentary Information Disclosure Policy Request" and stated:

"ICANN's DIDP is limited to requests for documentary information already in existence within ICANN that is not publicly available. Simple requests for non-documentary information are not appropriate DIDP requests".

- 127. As is clear from the face of the letter itself, it is not simply a DIDP request. The attempt by ICANN to treat it solely as such represents, at best, a basic error on its part and, at worst, an attempt by the Board to avoid dealing with what is clearly a serious and sensitive issue, which goes to the integrity of the application process for the .hotel gTLD.
- 128. To be fair, the DIDP Response goes on to provide much detail as to what ICANN has done in the way of forensic investigation and what that has revealed. It does not, however, state whether any consideration has been given as to the impact on the integrity of the application process for the .hotel gTLD.
- 129. In the Reply in the .hotel IRP, the Claimants have argued that, in the circumstances, HTLD's application for .hotel must be denied and have asked the Panel to declare that ICANN must reject HTLD's application.

130. In its Sur-Reply, ICANN argues that the Claimants have failed to identify any Board action or inaction in this regard that violates any of ICANN's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws. ICANN states in the Sur-Reply that:

"The only Board action (or inaction) that the Claimants vaguely allude to in their Reply is that the Board did not directly respond to a letter addressed to both ICANN Board and staff requesting disclosure of information regarding the Portal Configuration issue. But, it was not the Board's responsibility to do so, and ICANN's Articles and Bylaws do not mandate that the Board reply to every letter it receives".

- 131. In the context of the clear problems caused by ICANN's portal configuration problem, and the serious allegations contained in the letter of 5 June 2015, this is, in the view of the Panel, a specious argument.
- 132. In its Sur-Reply, ICANN goes on to say:

"Although Claimants Argue that [HTLD] "is closely linked with individuals who have misused, or have permitted the misuse of, their user credentials...this argument is unsupported and asserts no conduct by the ICANN Board. Claimants have failed to demonstrate that the Board has a duty to act with respect to Claimants' belief as to what the Board should do."

- 133. Article III.1 of ICANN's Bylaws provides that "ICANN and its constituent bodies shall operate to the maximum extent feasible in an open and transparent manner and consistent with procedures designed to ensure fairness."
- 134. The approach taken by the ICANN Board so far in relation to this issue does not, in the view of the Panel, comply with this Bylaw. It is not clear if ICANN has properly investigated the allegation of association between HTLD and D. Krischenowski and, if it has, what conclusions it has reached. Openness and transparency, in the light of such serious allegations, require that it should, and that it should make public the fact of the investigation and the result thereof.
- 135. The fact that no such investigation has taken place, or if it has the results have not been published, could, in the view of the Panel, amount to Board inaction and fall within the remit of the Panel. However, at the hearing, the Panel was assured by ICANN's representative, that the matter was still under consideration by the Board and that the Panel should not view a failure to act, as at the date of the hearing, as inaction on the part of the Board.
- **136.** In view of the fact that this issue was raised on 5 June 2015 by the Claimants, the Panel is of the view that it cannot remain under consideration by the Board

- of ICANN for much longer and that, if no further, appropriate action has been taken by the date of this Declaration, the failure of the Board to act could well amount to inaction on its part.
- 137. This issue was raised after this IRP process had commenced and has only been the subject of relatively brief argument by the Claimants in their Reply and by ICANN in its Sur-Reply. At the hearing, not only did ICANN's representative inform the Panel that the issue was still under consideration by the Board of ICANN, but he also gave an undertaking on behalf of ICANN that if a subsequent IRP was brought in relation to this issue, ICANN would not seek to argue that it had already been adjudicated upon by this Panel.
- 138. In all the circumstances, the Panel has concluded it should not make a declaration on this issue in this IRP, but that it should remain open to be considered at a future IRP should one be commenced in respect of this issue.

## <u>5. The attempt by Minds + Machines Group Limited to join in the .hotel</u> IRP.

- 139. As has already been stated, in the Claimants' Reply in the .hotel IRP, Minds + Machines Group Limited stated it wished to join in the proceedings and, in its Sur-Reply, ICANN objected, relying on Article 7 of the ICDR International Dispute Resolution Procedures.
- **140.**Article 7 provides that "[n]o additional party may be joined after the appointment of any arbitrator, unless all parties, including the additional party, otherwise agree". There is nothing in the ICANN Supplementary Procedures that is inconsistent with this provision and, accordingly, it governs the procedure of this IRP.
- 141. Minds + Machines Group Limited applied for the .hotel gTLD and there does not appear to be any reason why, should it have so wished, it could not have joined with the Claimants in bringing the .hotel IRP. It did not do so and no reason has been given for its failure to do so. Accordingly, pursuant to Article IV.3.3 of ICANN's Bylaws, it is now time-barred from doing so.
- **142.** In all the circumstances, the Panel rejects the request of Minds + Machines Group Limited to join this IRP.

## J. Conclusion

143. Many general complaints were made by the Claimants as to ICANN's selection process in appointing EIU as the CPE Panel, the process actually followed by

- EIU in considering community based applications, and the provisions of the Guidebook. However, the Claimants, sensibly, agreed at the hearing on 7 December 2015 that relief was not being sought in respect of these issues.
- 144. Nevertheless, a number of the more general issues raised by the Claimants and, indeed, some of the statements made by ICANN at the hearing, give the Panel cause for concern, which it wishes to record here and to which it trusts the ICANN Board will give due consideration.
- 145. At the hearing, ICANN submitted that it was not subject to a due process obligation neither pursuant to its Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, nor pursuant to general international legal principles, notwithstanding Article 4 of it Articles of Incorporation. If this was intended as a general statement, the Panel finds this most surprising in the context of the role ICANN fulfils and the language of Article 4 itself. ICANN is a California non-profit corporation but Article 4 of the Articles of Incorporation refers to the principles of international law and local law and to the use of open and transparent processes to enable competition and open entry in Internet markets. The Panel understands the importance of administrative procedures, such as the CPE discussed below. The Panel also understands that the EIU and the BGC themselves are not adjudicatory but administrative bodies. Nevertheless, the Panel invites the Board to affirm that, to the extent possible, and compatible with the circumstances and the objects to be achieved by ICANN, transparency and administrative due process should be applicable.
- 146. Also, at the hearing, ICANN confirmed that, notwithstanding that different individual evaluators can be used to consider different CPE applications, the EIU has no process for comparing the outcome of one CPE evaluation with another in order to ensure consistency. It further confirmed that ICANN itself has no quality review or control process, which compares the determinations of the EIU on CPE applications. Much was made in this IRP of the inconsistencies, or at least apparent inconsistencies, between the outcomes of different CPE evaluations by the EIU, some of which, on the basis solely of the arguments provided by the Claimants, have some merit.
- 147. The CPE process for this round of gTLDs is almost at an end, so there is little or nothing that ICANN can do now, but the Panel feels strongly that there needs to be a consistency of approach in making CPE evaluations and if different applications are being evaluated by different individual evaluators, some form of outcome comparison, quality review or quality control procedure needs to be in place to ensure consistency, both of approach and marking, by evaluators. As was seen in the .eco evaluation, where a single mark is the difference between prevailing at CPE and not, there needs to be a system in

place that ensures that marks are allocated on a consistent and predictable basis by different individual evaluators.

#### **148.** Further, as has already been stated:

- In its letter of 4 December 2015, ICANN confirmed that the EIU's determinations are presumptively final, and the Board's review on reconsideration is not substantive, but rather is limited to whether the EIU followed established policy or procedure.
- At the hearing on 7 December 2015, ICANN confirmed that the core values, which apply to ICANN by virtue of its Bylaws, have not been imposed contractually on the EIU, and the EIU are not, in consequence, subject to them.
- **149.** The combination of these statements gives cause for concern to the Panel. As has already been noted, Article I.2 of the Bylaws states:

"Any ICANN body making a recommendation or decision shall exercise its judgment to determine which core values are most relevant and how they apply to the specific circumstances of the case at hand, and to determine, if necessary, an appropriate and defensible balance among competing values."

- 150. The Panel fails to see why the EIU is not mandated to apply ICANN's core values in making its determinations whilst, obviously, taking into account the limits on direct application of all the core values as reflected in that paragraph of the Bylaws. Accordingly, the Panel suggests that the ICANN Board should ensure that there is a flow through of the application of ICANN's core values to entities such as the EIU.
- turns to the specific issues which, ultimately, it was asked to consider in this IRP. The Panel has found, in relation to each of the specific issues raised in the .hotel and .eco IRPs that it is satisfied that the BGC acted consistently with the provisions of ICANN's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, and that the Claimants' complaints have not been made out.
- **152.** In consequence, the Panel will not be making any of the declarations sought by the Claimants.

## K. The Prevailing Party and Costs

153. Article IV.3.18 of the Bylaws states:

"The IRP Panel shall make its declaration based solely on the documentation, supporting materials, and arguments submitted by the parties, and in its declaration shall specifically designate the prevailing party. The party not prevailing shall ordinarily be responsible for bearing all the costs of the IRP Provider, but in an extraordinary case the IRP Panel may in its declaration allocate up to half of the costs of the IRP Provider to the prevailing party based upon the circumstances including a consideration of the reasonableness of the parties positions and their contribution to the public interest. Each party to the IRP shall bear its own expenses."

- 154. The Panel confirms that it makes its declaration based solely on the documentation, supporting materials and arguments submitted by the parties and that on the basis of that documentation, supporting material and arguments, has concluded that ICANN is the prevailing party, both in respect of the .hotel IRP and the .eco IRP.
- 155. Although the Claimants have raised some general issues of concern as to the CPE process, the IRP in relation to the .hotel CPE evaluation was always going to fail given the clear and thorough reasoning adopted by the BGC in its denial of the Reconsideration Request and, although the ICANN staff could have responded in a way that made it explicitly clear that they had followed the DIDP Process in rejecting the Claimants' DIDP request in the .hotel IRP, again the IRP in relation to that rejection was always going to fail given the clarification by the BGC, in its denial of the Reconsideration Request, of the process that was followed.
- **156.** As for the .eco IRP, it is clear that the Reconsideration Request was misconceived and was little more than an attempt to appeal the CPE decision. Again, therefore, the .eco IRP was always going to fail.
- 157. Finally, although the letter from Crowell & Moring of 5 June 2015 raises some very serious issues, which the Panel considers the ICANN Board needs to address, in the end, the Panel has not had to adjudicate on this issue.
- 158. In conclusion, therefore, whilst the Panel has declared ICANN to be the prevailing party, the Claimants in this IRP have raised a number of serious issues which give cause for concern and which the Panel considers the Board need to address. In the circumstances, the Panel considers that the Claimants'

contribution to the public interest merits ICANN bearing half of the costs of the IRP Provider, which is the ICDR.

**159.** Article IV.3.18 provides that "[e]*ach party to the IRP shall bear its own expenses*". Rule 11 of ICANN's Supplementary Procedures provides:

"In the event the Requestor has not availed itself, in good faith, of the cooperative engagement or conciliation process, and the Requestor is not successful in the Independent Review, the IRP Panel must award ICANN all reasonable fees and costs incurred by ICANN in the IRP, including legal fees"

**160.** ICANN has not sought to argue that any of the Claimants failed to enter into the Cooperative Engagement Process in good faith, and there is no evidence of this in the materials before the Panel. In consequence, the panel considers that, in accordance with Article IV.3.18 of the Bylaws, each side shall bear their own expenses including legal fees.

#### FOR THE FORGOING REASONS, the Panel hereby:

- (1) Declares that the IRP Request made in relation to the .hotel gTLD by Despegar Online SRL, Donuts Inc., Famous Four Media Limited, Fegistry LLC and Radix FZC is denied;
- (2) Designates ICANN as the prevailing party in the .hotel IRP;
- (3) Declares that the IRP Request made in relation to .eco gTLD by Little Birch, LLC and Minds + Machines Group Limited is denied;
- (4) Designates ICANN as the prevailing party in the .eco IRP;
- (5) Declares that the fees and expenses of the IRP Panel members, totalling US\$113,351.52, and the fees and expenses of the ICDR, totalling US\$11,500.00, shall be born as to half by ICANN, and as to the other half collectively by Despegar Online SRL, Donuts Inc., Famous Four Media Limited, Fegistry LLC, Radix FZC, Little Birch, LLC and Minds +Machines Group Limited ("Applicants"). Therefore, ICANN shall reimburse the Applicants collectively the sum of \$5,750.00 representing that portion of said fees and expenses in excess of the apportioned costs previously incurred by the Applicants; and
- (6) This Final Declaration may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute the Final Declaration of this IRP Panel.

Dirk P. Tirez
Date: 4 habrung 12016

Thomas H. Webster Date: U EBLUARY 2016

Peter J. Rees QC

Chair of the IRP Panel Date: 11 FEBLUARY 2016